#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### **CASE NO. SC11-843**

# PATRICK HANNON, Appellant,

v.

# STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER Chief Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0150177

ANNA-LIISA NIXON Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 26283

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

## A. Procedural History

Mr. Hannon was charged by indictment on February 13, 1991, with two counts of first degree murder in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County (R. 1672-74). A superseding indictment was filed on March 27, 1991 charging Mr. Hannon and co-defendant, Ronald Richardson, with the same premeditated murders (R. 1683-85). By executive order the governor assigned the State Attorney for the Sixth Judicial Circuit to prosecute the case in place of the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit because of a conflict of interest (R. 1678-80). The change of State Attorney was granted because one of the State's witnesses, who was also the sister of co-defendant James Acker, was employed by the Hillsborough County State Attorney's Office (R. 1046, 1678-80, 1686-87, 1831-32).

Mr. Hannon's trial began on July 15, 1991. On July 23, 1991, the jury found Mr. Hannon guilty of two counts of first-degree premeditated murder (R. 1577, 1781-82). The entire penalty phase was held on July 24, 2991 and lasted less than thirty (30) minutes.

The jury recommended death sentences for both murder counts (R. 1587-1634, 1783-84, 1792). On August 5, 1991, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Hannon to death for both counts of murder (R. 1642, 1806-16). The trial court found three

aggravating circumstances with regard to victim Brandon Snider: 1) previous conviction of another capital felony, 2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of the crime of burglary, and 3) the capital felony was heinous, atrocious and cruel (R. 1806). With regard to victim Robbie Carter the court found the same three aggravators and additionally found that the capital murder was committed to avoid arrest (R. 1807-8).

The trial court found only two mitigating circumstances: 1) Mr. Hannon had never been a violent person, had never tried to harm anyone and had never hurt anyone, and 2) the plea agreement between co-defendant Richardson and the State in which his murder charges were reduced to one count of accessory after the fact (R. 1807, 1809). The court rejected defense counsel's argument of residual or lingering doubt as a mitigating circumstance (Id.).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction and sentences. Hannon v. State, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Hannon timely petitioned the United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Hannon raised the following claims on direct appeal: (I) the trial court erred by striking prospective jurors Ling and Troxler for cause in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments; (II) the State was improperly permitted to invade the province of the jury on the ultimate issue in this case by suggesting that State witness Toni Acker believed that Appellant might have been involved in the instant homicides; (III) the court below erred in permitting the State to introduce into evidence at Appellant's trial physical evidence and testimony that was irrelevant, prejudicial, and cumulative; (IV) Appellant's death sentences violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments because the especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstances is vague, is applied arbitrarily and capriciously, and does not genuinely narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty;

Supreme Court for writ of certiorari. The petition was denied on February 21, 1995. *Hannon v. Florida*, 115 S. Ct. 1118 (1995).

On March 17, 1997, Mr. Hannon filed his initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion. Mr. Hannon filed his final amended Rule 3.850 motion on April 10, 2000.<sup>2</sup>

(V) Appellant's sentence of death cannot stand because they are predicated, at least in part, on tainted jury recommendations, as Appellant's jury was given an unconstitutionally vague instruction on the especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance; (VI) the trial court erred in instructing the jury on and finding aggravation that the instant homicides were especially wicked, evil, atrocious, or cruel; (VII) the trial court erred in instructing Appellant's jury at penalty phase on, and finding the existence of, the aggravating circumstance that the homicide of Robbie Carter was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; (VIII) the trial court erred in instructin Appellant's jury at penalty phase on and finding in aggravation that Appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony based upon his contemporaneous convictions for the other homicide; (IX) the trial court's sentencing order contains insufficient factual basis and analysis to support Appellant's sentences of death; and (X) Appellant's sentences of death deny him equal justice under the law, as neither of the other participants in the events at the Cambridge Woods Apartments was sentenced to death.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Hannon raised the following claims: These claims included: (I) the lack of funding to investigate postconviction claims violated Hannon's constitutional rights and the dictates of *Spalding v. Dugger*, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla.1988); (II) requiring Hannon to file a motion under Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 one year after his conviction had become final violated his due process and equal protection rights; (III) Hannon was deprived of his due process rights and rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Amendments because the State withheld evidence that was material and exculpatory or presented misleading evidence or both; (IV) Hannon was denied effective assistance of counsel pretrial and at the guilt phase in violation of his Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights; (V) Hannon was deprived of his due process rights when unreliable and nonscientific evidence was presented at his trial in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923); (VI) Hannon's trial counsel was operating under a conflict of interest which violated

The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on some of Mr. Hannon's claims on February 18, 2002 and June 21, 2002 and thereafter denied Mr. Hannon's motion on February 4, 2003.

Hannon's Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights; (VII) the State's use of iailhouse informants violated Hannon's Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights; (VIII) the State's use of misleading testimony and improper argument undermined the reliability of Hannon's trial; (IX) Hannon was denied effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase and during sentencing in violation of his Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights; (X) Hannon was denied his rights under Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), when counsel failed to obtain an adequate mental health evaluation and failed to provide the necessary background information to the mental health experts; (XI) Hannon's sentencing jury was misled by comments, questions, and instructions that unconstitutionally diluted the jury's sense of responsibility; (XII) the trial court erroneously found one of the aggravators to be that the murder occurred during the commission of a felony, and that finding was an automatic aggravating factor; (XIII) the avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest aggravator is unconstitutionally vague, was improperly applied, and the jury received inadequate instructions; (XIV) the trial court committed fundamental error by instructing the jury regarding the HAC aggravator when the factor did not apply, and the jury instruction was unconstitutionally vague; (XV) the jury's death recommendation was tainted by consideration of invalid aggravating circumstances; (XVI) Hannon is "innocent of the death penalty"; (XVII) the rules prohibiting Hannon's postconviction counsel from interviewing jurors to determine if constitutional error was present during his trial violated Hannon's constitutional rights; (XVIII) Florida's capital sentencing law is unconstitutional on its face and as applied because it fails to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty and violates the due process and cruel and unusual punishment clauses; (XIX) newly discovered evidence demonstrates that Hannon's convictions and sentences are constitutionally unreliable in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments; (XX) Hannon's death sentences violate the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments because the law shifted the burden of proof to Hannon to prove that death was inappropriate, and the trial judge used that presumption in rendering a sentence; and (XXI) the cumulative effect of the procedural and substantive errors during the trial court proceedings denied Hannon of his right to a fair trial.

On August 31, 2006, this Court issued its decision affirming the circuit court's denial of postconviction relief and denying his state petition for writ of habeas corpus in this matter. *Hannon v. State*, 941 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 2006).

On November 22, 2006, Mr. Hannon filed a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. On October 23, 2007, the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida entered its order denying Mr. Hannon's petition.

On May 27, 2009, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district court's denial of Mr. Hannon's habeas petition. *Hannon v. Sec'y, Dept. of Corr.*, 562 F.3d 1146 (11th Cir. 2009). The United States Supreme Court denied his timely filed petition for writ of certiorari on November 2, 2009. *Hannon v. McNeil*, 130 S. Ct. 504 (2009).

On November 24, 2011, Mr. Hannon filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion based on the recent United States Supreme Court opinion in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). PCR2 140-72. The circuit court held a case management conference on February 25, 2011, and thereafter summarily denied Mr. Hannon's motion on March 23, 2011. Mr. Hannon timely filed a notice of appeal, PCR2. 292-93, and this appeal follows.

### **B.** Trial and Sentencing

Brandon Snider and Robbie Carter lived in the Cambridge Woods Apartments (R. 373-74, 377, 398, 1838-39). On January 10, 1991, several neighbors of Snider and Carter heard and saw what they termed as unusual events. Neighbors heard crashing, breaking glass and loud voices around 10:00 p.m. (R. 270-71, 289-290, 316-17). At least one neighbor saw into the apartment and noticed an individual covered with blood (R. 272-73). A downstairs window was broken and covered with blood and an upstairs window was broken and had blood on it (R. 272, 277-78). There also appeared to be blood on the outside of the open apartment door (R. 277, 323-25). Neighbors described three unclean or unkempt men who were leaving the victims' apartment (R. 296-96, 302-3, 307, 349, 344, 348). The police arrived shortly after the three individuals were seen leaving.

Mr. Hannon was arrested on February 6, 1991 (R. 980-81, 989). According to the detective arresting Mr. Hannon, he did not know whay he was being arrested and stated that he was not guilty (R. 993). The State presented several witnesses at trial to testify about statements allegedly made by Mr. Hannon while he was in jail pending trial (R. 866-69; 876-78; 880-87; 889-90; 892-905).

Ron Richardson, Mr. Hannon's co-defendant, was arrested on March 19, 1991 (R. 999, 1014). He was expected to be a defense witness at Mr. Hannon's trial, but initially invoked his Fifth Amendment privilege not to incriminate

himself (R. 985-989). Richardson ultimately testified as a witness for the prosecution, after he entered a negotiated plea to one count of accessory after the fact and a sentence of five years in prison in return for his testimony against Mr. Hannon (R. 1139-1218). During his direct examination, Richardson implicated both Mr. Hannon and Jim Acker, a third co-defendant. On cross-examination, Richardson acknowledged that he lied to Mr. Hannon's attorney during his statement prior to trial (R. 1193-94). Richardson had told defense counsel that he and Mr. Hannon had nothing to do with the murders (R. 1194). He further told Mr. Hannon's attorney that he and Mr. Hannon played quarters, a drinking game, on the night in question until 10:00 p.m., when Mr. Hannon went to sleep (R. 1194-95).

The State also called Judith Bunker, a forensic consultant in blood stain pattern analysis and crime scene reconstruction. Trial counsel did not cross examine this witness on her supposed expertise, her methodology, and the bases for her opinion.

At the penalty phase, the State presented no additional evidence. The defense presented Toni Acker, a friend and sister of co-defendant Acker, to testify that she didn't believe Mr. Hannon was capable of murder (R. 1598). Trial counsel also presented Mr. Hannon's mother and father (R. 1599-1600). The trial court found three aggravating circumstances with regard to victim Brandon Snider: 1)

previous conviction of another capital felony, 2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of the crime of burglary, and 3) the capital felony was heinous, atrocious and cruel (R. 1806). With regard to victim Robbie Carter the court found the same three aggravators and additionally found that the capital murder was committed to avoid arrest (R. 1807-8).

The trial court found only two mitigating circumstances: 1) Mr. Hannon had never been a violent person, had never tried to harm anyone and had never hurt anyone, and 2) the plea agreement between co-defendant Richardson and the State in which his murder charges were reduced to one count of accessory after the fact (R. 1807, 1809). The court rejected defense counsel's argument of residual or lingering doubt as a mitigating circumstance (Id.).

# **C.** Postconviction Proceedings

The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Hannon's first Rule 3.851 motion in 2002. Mr. Hannon's trial counsel, Joe Episcopo, testified that at the time he was retained by the Hannons to represent Mr. Hannon, he had been a prosecutor for six years. Mr. Hannon's case was his first as a defense attorney and his first capital case that went to penalty phase (PC-R. 2696). Mr. Episcopo was unfamiliar with the law and the obligations of defending a capital defendant. Mr. Episcopo hired an investigator for the limited purpose of interviewing jailhouse snitches (See, Defense Exhibits 1, 2).

As for penalty phase preparation, Mr. Episcopo said he planned to establish that Mr. Hannon did not have the type of character to be involved in these crimes (PC-R. 2747). He said he had discussions with Mr. Hannon, his parents and his sister about what he planned to present. His discussions with Mr. and Mrs. Hannon were at the trial during breaks, and his discussion with Maureen Hannon was outside the courtroom when she was called as a defense witness at the guilt phase (PC-R. 2748).

He said his view of the penalty phase "depends on the case" (PC-R. 2749), but in Mr. Hannon's case, its purpose "was to try to save his life so that we could find the killers." When Mr. Episcopo was asked if he investigated Mr. Hannon's background, he said he knew all about his background. He knew he had a minor criminal background, which the State did not use to impeach him. (PC-R. 2749-50). He knew that Mr. Hannon had prior convictions of cocaine, burglary, and grand theft. He knew about Mr. Hannon carrying a concealed weapon (PC-R. 2750). When asked if he investigated any of Mr. Hannon's drug use, his response was "No. Of course not. It had nothing to do with our defense" (Id.). Mr. Episcopo testified that he did not obtain any of Mr. Hannon's school, military or medical records (PC-R. 2751).

Mr. Episcopo could not explain why the jury would reject Mr. Hannon's innocence defense in the guilt phase and then suddenly believe it in the penalty

phase. Mr. Episcopo said he argued lingering doubt, which he described as the "catch all." (PC-R. 2756). He said he did not consult with any attorneys experienced in death penalty litigation about what he was doing because he "didn't have a lot of confidence" in them (Id.). He was unfamiliar and never consulted the American Bar Association guidelines on how to conduct a death penalty case (PC-R. 2770). He was not familiar with *Ake v. Oklahoma* (PC-R. 2806). Mr. Episcopo specifically stated: "I don't care what the ....American Bar Association says. I don't care what anybody says. This is a decision I made. I'm the guy that makes those decisions. Not the life and death course." (PC-R. 2784).

Mr. Episcopo did not investigate Mr. Hannon's mental state or possible brain damage because he had no indication of that (PC-R. 2757). He said he spent lots of time talking with Mr. Hannon and his family and "I can determine whether somebody's whacked" (Id.). Mr. Episcopo said he questioned Mr. Hannon's parents in the hallway during trial about problems he may have had, and found no basis to investigate Mr. Hannon's mental health. "And, why would I do that anyway? We're going to get up there and say he's crazy and therefore, he shouldn't be killed? He wasn't crazy." (PC-R. 2758-59). Mr. Episcopo said he did not believe that Mr. Hannon had "a mental problem....I think I know it when I see it." (PC-R. 2759).

Likewise, Mr. Episcopo did not investigate Mr. Hannon's drug history, which he described as "standard run of the mill" (PC-R. 2760). Because he was unfamiliar with *Ake v. Oklahoma*, he did not have Mr. Hannon evaluated for any mental health issues before trial. He had no one evaluate Mr. Hannon for mitigation issues at all (Id.).

Mr. Episcopo's preparation of Mr. and Mrs. Hannon for their testimony at the penalty phase was to say, "get up there and – and remember this is our defense and basically you've just got to look at the jury and tell them what you feel from your heart. That was it" (Id.). He said the preparation did not require more than that "because they had told me he didn't do it. That was our mitigation" (Id.). Mr. Episcopo said he did not question Mr. Hannon's parents in the hallway during trial about his background because "I had no indication that it was bad" (PC-R. 2761). He didn't ask about his drug problems because he "didn't see it as relevant" (Id.). He had no indication that Mr. Hannon had been neglected.

When asked if Mr. Hannon had cocaine problems before trial, he adamantly said, "He didn't have a cocaine problem" (PC-R. 2765). He said he wasn't told by Mr. Hannon that he had had a drinking problem (PC-R. 2766). Mr. Episcopo testified that he did not know that his client began using drugs and alcohol at age 11; that he had a history of using LSD, crystal methamphetamine, hallucinogenic mushrooms, crack cocaine, and that he was paranoid when on drugs (PC-R. 2767).

He said he was never told about those drugs and "it didn't come up because it wasn't an issue....We weren't exploring those things" (Id.).

Although Mr. Episcopo "expected this case to go back to trial," and "expected that someone could come forward or there'd be a confession in jail just like you read about all the time," (PC-R. 2786-87), he decided to present a mitigation case without having done any investigation into Mr. Hannon's background. "So what are we going to do a background investigation for? What's the point?" he asked (PC-R. 2805).

At the postconviction evidentiary hearing, Dr. Faye Sultan, a clinical psychologist, testified that she spent 14 hours interviewing and evaluating Mr. Hannon. She gave him an IQ test that showed him to be scattered (PC-R. 3007-8). She said she hoped to gain understanding of how Mr. Hannon, a person of normal intelligence, could behave in such a "repetitively impulsive, poorly-reasoned, self-destructive way over many years without obvious psychopathology." (PC-R. 3009). While she found no major thought disorders, depression, or obvious mental illness, she testified that his behavior did not make sense in light of his normal intelligence. Because of the way he processed information, she suggested that Mr. Hannon be evaluated by a neuropsychologist (PC-R. 3008-9).

In her lengthy interviews with Mr. Hannon, she learned of Mr. Hannon's illogical behaviors. She said he had a long history of fleeing his environment,

including going AWOL in the military on three separate occasions and spending six to eight years being pursued by authorities when stopping that behavior would have been a simple matter (PC-R. 3010).

She learned about Mr. Hannon's extensive drug and alcohol abuse that began at age 11 and escalated over time (PC-R. 3011). She learned that Mr. Hannon took cocaine, crystal methamphetamine, LSD, hallucinogenic mushrooms, crack, Quaaludes, and prescription drugs to stimulate himself and barbiturate for sedation purposes, in addition to alcohol and marijuana (Id.). Dr. Sultan testified that while Mr. Hannon was able to reduce his alcohol and drug consumption during the week, during the weekend, he spent an inordinate amount of time staying "very, very stoned the entire weekend." (PC-R. 3046).

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