PATRICK HANNON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-843 L.T. No. 91-1927

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.851 MOTION THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Thus, the state court reasonably concluded that Hannon failed to demonstrate that if the mental health testimony presented during the post-conviction hearing had been presented at trial along with the other mitigation evidence that was presented during both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial there is a reasonable probability that the result of the

proceeding would have been different, especially in light of the gruesome nature of the manner in which the victims were murdered. The record demonstrates that Hannon grabbed Snider from behind and slit his throat with such force that he was almost decapitated. Prior to this, Acker stabbed Snider about 14 times, and Snider's screams could be heard throughout the apartment complex. At one point, Snider yelled for Carter to call 911 because his guts were hanging out. The record also demonstrates that Carter ran from his attackers and tried to hide under the bed, but was shot six times. Despite the number of gunshot wounds, Carter did not die instantaneously. Emergency personnel testified that when they arrived, Carter was still gasping for breath. See Hannon, 941 So.2d at 1137. Accordingly, the district court did not err in finding the state courts' resolution of the prejudice prong of Hannon's claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel was not unreasonable.

Hannon, 562 F.3d at 1154-1158 (e.s.).

Hannon next filed a petition for writ of certiorari, which was denied by the United States Supreme Court on November 2, 2009. Hannon v. McNeil, 130 S. Ct. 504 (2009).

On November 24, 2010, Hannon filed a "Successive Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence Pursuant to Rule 3.851." (PCR-2, 1/140-72). Hannon's successive motion to vacate was based on Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). The State filed its response on December 14, 2010 (PCR-2, 2/173-225) and a case management conference was conducted on February 25, 2011. (PCR-2, 4/314-38). The circuit court issued an order summarily denying Hannon's successive motion to vacate on March 23, 2011. (PCR-2, 2/288-91). Hannon's notice of appeal was filed on January 13, 2011. (PCR-2, 1/292-93). This appeal follows.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits summary denial of a successive motion for post-conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and in the case conclusively show that the movant records is entitled to no relief." Williamson v. State, 961 So. 2d 229, This Court reviews the circuit court's 234 (Fla. 2007). decision to summarily deny a successive rule 3.851 motion de novo, accepting the movant's factual allegations as true to the extent they are not refuted by the record, and affirming the ruling if the record conclusively shows that the movant is entitled to no relief. Walton v. State, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009) citing State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(B).

In order to support summary denial, "the trial court must either state its rationale in the order denying relief or attach portions of the record that would refute the claims." *Nixon v. State*, 932 So. 2d 1009, 1018 (Fla. 2006). Here, as in *Rose v. State*, 985 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 2008), the trial court entered a detailed written order disclosing the basis for the summary denial of Hannon's second successive motion to vacate and providing for meaningful appellate review. *Id.*, citing *Nixon*,

932 So. 2d at 1018.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Hannon's motion to vacate did not meet the requirements for an exception to the one-year time limitation as provided in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(d)(2)(B). *Porter* did not establish a new fundamental constitutional right. Hannon's successive post-conviction motion was a procedurally-barred attempt to relitigate his previously denied claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel. Further, Hannon failed to prove deficiency and does not show that the lack of deficiency was affected by the *Porter* decision. Finally, Hannon's collateral counsel was not authorized to file this successive, untimely, frivolous and procedurally-barred motion.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY SUMMARILY DENIED HANNON'S SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.851 MOTION TO VACATE BECAUSE THE MOTION, BASED ON PORTER V. MCCOLLUM, WAS TIME-BARRED, UNAUTHORIZED, SUCCESSIVE, PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT -- PORTER DID NOT CONSTITUTE A NEW FUNDAMENTAL AND RETROACTIVE "CHANGE IN LAW".

Hannon challenges the trial court's summary denial of his claim that his IAC/penalty phase claim must be re-litigated in light of *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). The trial court's legal ruling is subject to *de novo* review. *Henyard v. State*, 992 So. 2d 120, 125 (Fla. 2008) (post-conviction motion denied solely on the pleadings presents a legal issue, reviewed *de novo*). The only questions properly before this Court are: 1) Did *Porter* "change" the law on ineffective assistance of counsel and 2) if so, has the alleged "change in law" been held to apply retroactively under *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980)? The answer to both questions is no. Therefore, the trial court properly denied Hannon's motion as untimely, successive and procedurally barred.

The Trial Court's Order

In denying Hannon's successive motion to vacate, based on *Porter*, the trial court stated, in pertinent part:

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Defendant's Successive Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence Pursuant to Rule 3.851, filed on November 24, 2010, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. On December 14, 2010, the State filed State's Answer to Defendant's Successive Rule 3.851 Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence and, on February 25, 2011, the Court held a case management conference. After considering Defendant's motion, the State's answer, the arguments of counsel presented during the February 25, 2011 case management conference, as well as the court file and record, and applicable rules of procedure and case law, the Court finds as follows:

On July 23, 1991, a jury found Defendant guilty of first-degree murder. counts The of two jury recommended a death sentence on each count and, on August 5, 1991, the trial court sentenced Defendant to death on each count. On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Defendant's convictions and death sentences. See Hannon v. State, 638 So.2d 39 (Fla. 1994). The United State Supreme Court denied his petition for writ of certiorari. See Hannon v. Florida, 513 U.S. 1158 (1995) (mem.).

On March 17, 1997, Defendant filed his initial motion for postconviction relief 3.850 and, on February 4, 2003, the postconviction court denied The Defendant's motion. Florida Supreme Court affirmed the denial of Defendant's 3.850 motion and denied his petition for writ of habeas corpus in State, 941 So.2d 1109 (Fla. Hannon v. 2006). Defendant's federal petition for writ of habeas corpus was also denied. See Hannon v. Sec'y, Dep't of Corrections, 622 F. Supp. 2d 1169 (M.D. Fla. 2007), *aff'd*, 562 F.3d 1146 (11th Cir. 2009). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on November 2, 2009. See Hannon v. McNeil, 130 SCt. 504 (2009) (mem.).

In the instant motion, Defendant again alleges as he did in his original postconviction relief motion - that he received ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase, and argues this issue should be re-evaluated in light of the United Supreme Court's decision in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). In Porter, the Court found the Florida Supreme Court misapplied the Strickland [fn1] analysis in Porter's

case, and failed to "consider or unreasonably discounted the mitigation evidence" presented during his evidentiary hearing. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 454-56. Defendant contends that Porter "represents а fundamental repudiation of the Florida Supreme Court's jurisprudence, Strickland and as such Porter constitutes a change in law...which renders [his] Porter claim cognizable in these postconviction proceedings." Although Defendant acknowledges that Porter did not create a new constitutional right for a capital defendant, he asserts that Porter constitutes a change in law and, therefore, should be held to apply retroactively and applied in his case. [fn2] Defendant further requests that this Court hold an evidentiary hearing and conduct the probing factspecific analysis required by Porter.

The State essentially argues that Defendant's motion is untimely, successive, procedurally barred and unauthorized. Specifically, the State argues that *Porter* did not create a fundamental change in constitutional law, but only applied the *Strickland* analysis to the facts of Porter's case. Therefore, the State asserts, Defendant's motion is successive, does not fall within any of the exceptions authorized in rule 3.85 1(d)(2), and should be summarily denied.

The Court first notes rule 3.851 requires that any motion to vacate a conviction and sentence of death be filed within 1 year after the judgment and become final. See Fla. R. sentence Crim. Ρ. 3.851(d)(1). As relied on by Defendant, the rule further permits a court to consider such a motion beyond the 1-year time limit when "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1)and has been held to apply retroactively." Fla. R. Crim. Ρ. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Defendant's judgment and sentence became final in 1995. See Hannon v. Florida, 513 U.S. 1158 (1995).

The Court finds that *Porter* merely applied the *Strickland* analysis to the particular facts of Porter's case, and found that the Florida Supreme Court was incorrect in its *Strickland* analysis as to

Porter's case. However, Porter did not change the Strickland standard or its application, and does not constitute a fundamental change or development in Florida or constitutional law. Therefore, the instant motion does not fall within any of the exceptions set forth in rule 3.851(d)(2). Defendant herein essentially to seeks re-litigate ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel issues which were previously raised, denied following an evidentiary hearing, and affirmed on appeal. See Hannon, 941 So. The Florida Supreme Court specifically 2d at 1124-38. found that counsel did not perform deficiently during Hannon′ s penalty phase and the outcome of the proceedings were not prejudiced by counsel's alleged deficient performance. See id. Consequently, after considering the motion, answer, court file and record, the Court finds the instant motion is untimely, successive and procedurally barred. As such, no relief is warranted on Defendant's motion.

fn1. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

fn2. Defendant cites to *Witt v. State*, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980), as well as other Florida cases which permitted retroactive application of changes in the law, to support his assertion that this issue is properly raised in the instant motion.

(PCR-2, 2/288-91) (e.s.)

Analysis

The trial court correctly summarily denied Hannon's successive motion to vacate, based on *Porter*, because the motion was patently frivolous -- it was unauthorized, time-barred, successive, repetitive, procedurally barred and also without merit. Because Hannon did not identify any new constitutional right created by *Porter*, nor show that *Porter* has been held to apply retroactively, his successive motion was facially insufficient, unauthorized, untimely and procedurally barred.

Hannon's motion to vacate was filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851, which provides that motions for post-conviction relief must be brought within one year of the conviction and sentence becoming final unless the motion meets one of the exceptions outlined in the rule. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(1). Because Hannon's convictions and sentences became final in 1995, his motion was properly rejected as successive and untimely.

Hannon fails to demonstrate that he can satisfy any of the exceptions to the time limit of Rule 3.851. Instead, he asserts that Porter is subject to retroactive application under Witt v. 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), rendering his claim State, cognizable in post-conviction. However, his analysis is the *Witt* irrelevant; even satisfaction of retroactivity principles does not excuse a failure to comply with the procedural requirements in presenting a claim for relief. See, Mills v. Dugger, 574 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 1990); Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S. Ct. 1821 (1987) (claim subject to time bar); Clark v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 192, 194 (Fla. 1990)

(Hitchcock claim procedurally barred where previously considered and rejected in state and federal court). Thus, before considering Witt, this Court must assess the propriety of the trial court's finding this motion to be untimely and successive. Rule 3.851(d)(2) makes no exception to the time bar for consideration of cases to be applied retroactively under Witt. Rather, the rule only permits consideration of а new to constitutional riqht which "has been held apply retroactively." Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B). Hannon does not identify any new constitutional right created by Porter and no court has held that Porter established a "new law" that is retroactive. Instead, both this Court and the federal courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have uniformly reinforced the application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. See, Cullen v. Pinholster, 131 S. Ct. 1388 (2011); Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770 (2011); Premo v. Moore, 131 S. Ct. 733 (2011); Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S. Ct. 1473 (2010); Renico v. Lett, 130 S. Ct. 1855 (2010); Sears v. Upton, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010); Reed v. Sec'y, Fla. Dept. of Corrections, 593 F.3d 1217, 1243 n.16, 1246 (11th Cir. 2010); Franqui v. State, 59 So. 3d 82, 95 (Fla. 2011); Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 836 (Fla. 2011); Everett v.

State, 54 So. 3d 464, 472 (Fla. 2010); Schoenwetter v. State, 46 So. 3d 535 (Fla. 2010); Stewart v. State, 37 So. 3d 243, 247 (Fla. 2010). Since Porter neither recognized a new right nor has been held to apply retroactively, it does not meet the exception to the time bar found in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B).

Hannon's motion was barred as it raised an improper successive claim. The state courts have already considered and rejected the same claim that Hannon seeks to resurrect under the guise of *Porter*. Moreover, the state courts' rejection of this same IAC/penalty phase claim has already been reviewed for "*Porter*" error, since the federal courts expressly found that the state courts application of *Strickland* was reasonable.

Because Hannon's IAC/penalty phase claim has previously been rejected, his renewed IAC/penalty phase claim is procedurally barred. *Pope v. State*, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); *Clark*, 559 So. 2d at 194. Piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. *Pope*, 702 So. 2d at 223; *Lambrix v. State*, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996).

Hannon's claim is procedurally barred and precluded by the law of the case doctrine and res judicata. See, Topps v. State,

865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits); State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-90 (Fla. 2003) (law of the case doctrine precludes relitigation of claim denied by trial court and affirmed on appeal). In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply the United States Supreme Court issued because opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). In Marek, another death-sentenced inmate argued that his previously-rejected claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S. Ct. 2456 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495 (2000), because they allegedly changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland." Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme

Court had found that state courts had improperly rejected these claims. As in *Marek*, Hannon's renewed IAC/penalty phase claim was procedurally barred and was properly denied.

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